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Important Note


Please feel free to mark corrections and important additions in this paper, along with the source of the information.





Preface


I started out to write a short Wayne county history for inclusion in my Hart family genealogy.  As usual, the project grew beyond its planned size.  I found the available histories to be confusing as to the order of events and lacking in supporting details.  I resolved to collect all the sources available to me into a chronological listing of events with authoritative references.  I use direct quotes where possible to minimize coloring of the history by my interpretation.  I hope the result will give a clearer picture of the process of establishing the local civilization and government.
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BEFORE STATEHOOD (TO 1846)


The first European explorers near Iowa were Father Marquette and Louis Joliet, who came about 1673 along the Mississippi River.  Almost nothing was known of the area west of the Mississippi until Lewis and Clark came up the Missouri River in their exploration of the 1803 Louisiana Purchase.  The first trails through what became Wayne County were those of nomadic Indian tribes, fur trappers, and the Bee Trace left by people who came in search of the valuable honey and wax.�


A line was surveyed "in 1816 by John C. Sullivan to mark the boundaries of a large tract of land ceded to the United States by the Osage Indians.  [He] began his survey on the Missouri River opposite the mouth of the Kansas River [and ran a line] north one hundred miles".  There he set a corner known as "the old Northwest corner of Missouri", on what is now the boundary of Taylor County Iowa." �  He then ran east to the Des Moines River... setting posts at the mile and half-mile points and blazing the line.  Later surveys showed that this line was neither a true east nor straight line"�.  This line was essentially the line later established as the Iowa-Missouri boundary.


Missouri was admitted as a state in 1821, with its northern boundary vaguely placed in the vicinity of Sullivan's line. At that time the state extended west only to the Old Northwest Corner and the Kansas River.


The Black Hawk Purchase of 1832 was one of the earliest transfers of Indian land in what became Iowa to the US Government.  It did not affect the land of Wayne County.


The cavalry� traveled in 1832 southwest through Lucas and Wayne counties on a reconnaissance from Davenport to Ft. Leavenworth.


A large territory west of the Mississippi including all of the future state of Iowa was attached to the Michigan Territory in 1834.  The Iowa District was divided into two counties.  The county of Dubuque as originally established comprised all that territory to which Indian title had been extinguished, lying west of the Mississippi River and north of a line drawn due west of the lower end of Rock Island to the Missouri River.  All territory south of this line, north of Missouri, and extending west to the Indian country was included in the county of Demoine.  All of Dubuque county was included in the township of Julien and all of Demoine county in Flint Hill township.�


In 1836 the Wisconsin Territory was formed including, besides Wisconsin, the land which was to become Iowa and a part of Minnesota and Dakota.  During the Wisconsin Territorial period most of the eastern counties of Iowa were organized with approximately their modern boundaries, or the boundaries of two modern counties.  The western lands were divided by drawing lines west from the corners  of the organized counties, and were attached to those counties for governmental purposes. The Sullivan line was apparently assumed as the southern boundary, although the old markings were lost in many places�  and the use of the line itself was to be disputed.


In 1836 Congress extended the western boundary of Missouri to the Missouri River, as soon as Indian title was cleared. The 1837 Platte Purchase added this land, at about the same time as the "White Breast Purchase" of a narrow wedge in eastern Iowa.


In l837 Joseph C. Brown was appointed to make a survey of Missouri's entire northern boundary.  Inexact and varying wording in the treaties and acts of Congress left much room for various interpretations of the proper location.  He selected a starting point on the Des Moines River and ran a line westward to the Missouri River.  In Wayne County, it was about 10 to 15 miles north of Sullivan's line.�  Missouri then claimed to this line, although many Iowans did not did not accept it.


The Iowa Territory was formed in June, 1838, with 16 counties and a population of 23,000.  It included part of the present state of Minnesota.�  Wayne County was still Indian land.  The territorial (later state) capital was located in 1839 and named Iowa City.


The state line quarrel rose to its peak about this time when Clark Co., Missouri attempted to collect taxes from settlers in the disputed area.  The collectors were arrested on a warrant issued by Van Buren county, Iowa.  The governors called out militia, but then proposed to negotiate and disbanded the troops.  Investigations and reports continued without a final settlement for several years.


"The first settlers in what is now Wayne County were D.S. Duncan and H.P. Sullivan.  Next was [Harvey B.] Duncan"�  "who, after a tedious journey of two months from Kentucky, on the 13th of November, 1841, located near the present village of Lineville.�   Mr. Duncan supposed that he had settled in the state of Missouri, and had the honor of being one of the county commissioners of Putnam county, and also a probate judge and representative in the Missouri legislature [1848] for that county.�  [He later] filled several important positions in Wayne county".�,�


"In l843 Talbot Rockhold and Charles Rockhold came and settled in [the unsurveyed land that became] section 33 in Jefferson township."  "In 1844 Joseph Duncan came from Whitely county, Kentucky".�  Temporary settlers may have come and gone in the 1840's.  "Caleb creek in Jefferson township was named for Caleb Lyten, who settled on that creek in l843, and Steele creek in Clay township was named for Samuel G. Steele who settled on that stream in 1842". "We find nothing more about these people and it may be that they did not stay very long".�  Most of those who settled this border area were under the belief that they were in Missouri, and participated in the organization of Missouri counties.�


"Official survey of the public lands was supposed to follow close upon the acquisition of title from the Indians, before settlement occurred."  Before 1841, federal law prohibited settlement on the public domain.  "Actually 'squatters' often preceded the running of the lines..."� and land sale.  This practice was recognized and in effect encouraged by several preemption acts in the 1830's and early 40’s that gave settlers "illegally" living on the land at those dates the first right to buy their claims. The Land Distribution Act of 1841 permanently established the preemption principle for those who settled on surveyed land before it was offered for sale.  Settling in advance of the survey was not authorized until 1853.�  In Wayne county there was probably little settlement ahead of the survey except in the south tier of townships, where survey was delayed by the state line dispute.  The settlers who were ahead of the land sales and organized government used local "claim societies" to maintain a form of justice and mutual protection.  They made sure that only those with honest intentions of settling were allowed to establish claims and, when the land went up for auction, prevented (by threat of force) anyone from raising the settler's bid of the minimum price (usually $1.25 per acre) for his claim.  Without this protection, speculators could have forced the settler to pay more for the land that he had made valuable by his labor.


In October 1842 a treaty was concluded which eventually moved the Sauk and Mesquaki (Fox)� out of Iowa.�  A temporary line (Red Rock line, near the east edge of Wayne Co.) was set for vacation by 1 May 1843 and the remainder was turned over by 11 Oct 1845.�  The remaining Indian lands, all distant from Wayne County, were cleared in 1846 (Potawatami), 1846 (Winnebago), and 1851 (Sioux).�


"The Sacs and Foxes had always been peaceably disposed toward the whites, and very few settlers had any trouble with them.  In the summer or fall of 1844, however, a large band of Indians visited the southwest part of Wayne county.  Several Missourians had made claims in the vicinity, and being fearful that the Indians would steal from them ordered their visitors off... [but when they found] themselves outnumbered, the whites gave over their intentions".�  This was still Indian land until the following year, but the vagueness of the Missouri line made it unclear where their land ended.


Most of the land that became Wayne County was still Indian territory until 1845.  The southern boundary of the Indian land was the cession line of the Osage indians to Missouri (the Sullivan line, by this time obscure).  The Sauk and Mesquaki (Fox) tribes had sold large areas to the United States in 1832 (Black Hawk purchase) and l837 (second or White Breast purchase).  This gave the US the land to just west of Fairfield.  A land office for the southern part of Iowa was located at Fairfield in 1842.�


Contracts were let for the surveying of the Appanoose-Wayne county line in 1845 and most of the


township lines in Wayne county in 1846.


"The territory embraced in Wayne county once formed part of Des Moines county.  It was erected into a separate county January 13,1846".�   "Prior to its organization [in 1851] this county was attached to Appanoose for judicial, revenue, and election purposes"� along with part of Davis county.�


The Mormons made their way through Wayne county in 1846 and 1847. Pioneers of other faiths sometimes travelled with the large group for protection, and later travelers and settlers often followed their paths west.�  The Mormon trail speeded up the settling of southern Iowa.


"In 1844 a constitutional convention [framed an Iowa constitution] embracing boundaries far more extensive than those of the present state."  Congress approved the admission of Iowa in 1845, but with boundaries considerably different from those submitted. Iowa voters rejected this and in 1846 approved an act of Congress with the present boundaries.  Iowa was admitted to statehood on Decenber 28, l846.�  Iowa City remained the capital until 1855.


Mexican war .....


SETTLEMENT (1846�50)


Most of Wayne county's township lines had been surveyed in 1846. Township subdivisions (into sections) were surveyed on contracts let in April and August 1847 in the north three tiers of townships, with some reexaminations in 1848.�  They were all surveyed as part of Iowa, although the boundary question had not yet been settled.  The U.S. Supreme Court decreed in December, 1848, that Sullivan's line was the true boundary and ordered a resurvey of it that was completed in 1850.  The south tier of townships was not surveyed until the state line was established.


Grand River or Lineville was the oldest community in the county. The nucleus of this settlement was originally composed of several families from Kentucky"�


A few permanent settlers had come to Wayne county by 1848, in addition to those who thought they were in Missouri. Among them were Myrtillo Hart with his wife and four sons� in section 35, Washington township, and Truman, Kellogg M., Elisha T., and William B. Hart in section 4, Washington township.  "Henderson Walker made a settlement in the northeast part of the county in 1848"�


Gold was discovered in California in 1848, and by early 1849 the rush west was underway.  This brought through Iowa thousands of California-bound travelers during the years 1849�52.  This hastened the settlement of Iowa by those who wearied of the travel and those who followed west in search of the good land the gold seekers wrote home about.


Several more settlers came to Wayne county in 1849 and 1850. "The first filing of claims was recorded in 1849."  The earlier preemption purchases of Wayne county land were probably made at Fairfield before the opening of the Chariton office in 1852.  Many of the early claims were "near the Mormon trail" in Wright, Union, and Washington townships�  The most desirable parcels were those having a good balance between timber for building, fuel, and fencing, and prarie for farming and grazing, and also were near springs or streams. The settlers bought their land either under the preemption laws, at public auction, or afterward by private entry.  The price was almost always $1.25 per acre, but often military land warrants could be purchased for less and redeemed for land.  After 1847 large quantities of land warrants were available, and many soldiers sold them for cash rather than come west for the land. In 1849 land warrants could be bought for 68 cents an acre, and they gradually increased in value to $1.20 in the years 1853�56.�


The earliest settlers in an area often laid out their farms in clusters around tiny villages, which often grew around a post office or a mill.  "Barker's Mills in sec. 1  South Fork township and Lancaster Mills on the South Chariton 5 miles northeast of Corydon both had a sawmill and a grist mill as the reason for their existence".�  There was a post office in the eastern part of the county from 1849 to 1862 called South Fork.�


"Among the early settlers were Henderson Walker, Benjamin Barker, Hiram Mason, K.M. Hart, Isaac W. McCarty, Joseph Sullivan, George Garman, John Bay and the Nidays,� Moses Baker, Joseph Raines, and Seth Anderson."  "George Garman settled near the present village of Peoria [Bentonville] in the timber on Chariton River, and Benjamin Barker in the northeast part of the county, at the place now called Barker's Mills.  Joseph Raines and Seth Anderson pitched their tents on Locust Creek near the present village of Genoa, and Isaac W. McCarty on McCarty's creek near the present town of Corydon".�  A tabulation of early inhabitants of the county is included below. The 1850 census shows 320 persons in 57 dwellings in Wayne county.  In these early days of settlement, each household sometimes included two families with various relatives and hired help. Harvey Duncan was counted in Iowa.�  By 1850 settlers were arriving at a rapid and increasing rate.


"The first school in the county was taught in 1850 by James M. Sullivan [in Lineville]".�


The state line survey was begun in May 1850 and the commissioners made their report Sept. 30, 1850.  The final Supreme Court decree was made in January, 1851.  This settled the boundary question except for a short section where the markers were lost and remarked in 1896.�


In the 1850�51 Iowa legislature, Wayne, Davis, and Appanoose counties were represented by Samuel and Reuben Riggs.�


Table:   Early Inhabitants of Wayne County


This is an approximately chronological list of all names found as heads of households or otherwise referenced in Wayne County in the early years of settlement.  Some moved on and left no family connections in Wayne County.


Under DATE, Twp means listed as “among first in township”.


NAME�
  LOCATION�
DATE�
REFERENCE�
NOTES�
�
Duncan, H.B.�
Grand River�
1841


1847?�
Andreas


Hair�
thought Mo.�
�
Duncan, Dixon S.�
Grand River�
1841


<1850�
B&H


Census�
thought Mo.


 �
�
Sullivan, (Henry?) Perry�
�
1841


<1850�
B&H 


Census�
�
�
Steele, Samuel G.�
Decatur Co?�
1842�
Andreas�
thought Mo.�
�
Lyten, Caleb�
Mo.?�
1843�
Andreas�
thought Mo.�
�
Rockhold, Talbot�
Jeff�
1843�
Andreas�
thought Mo.�
�
         /Talbert�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Rockhold, Charles�
Jeff�
1843�
Andreas�
thought Mo.�
�
Duncan, Joseph�
Grand River�
1844


<1850�
Andreas


Census�
thought Mo.


�
�
Hart, Myrtillo/Matillo�
Wash�
1848





<1849


<1850�
Old Settlers Reg (sons)


Land ...


Census�
Aug.1849 





35�70�22 


�
�
Hart, Truman�
Wash�
1848


<1850�



Census�
�
�
Hart, Elisha T.�
Wash�
1848


<1850�



Census�
�
�
Hart, William B.�
Wash�
1848


<1849


<1850�



land 4�70�22


Census�
�
�
Hart, Kellogg M.�
Wash�
1848


<1849


"early"�



land 4�70�22


Andreas�
�
�
Walker, Henderson�
�
1848


<1850


"early"�
Andreas


Census


Hair, Andreas�
�
�
McDaniel, Henry�
�
sprng 49


<1850 


Twp�
Andreas


Census


Andreas�
�
�
Barker, Benjamin�
SF�
"early" 


<1850�
Hair, Andreas


Census�
�
�
Mason, Hiram�
Wri�
"early" 


<1850�
Hair, Andreas


Census�
�
�
McCarty, Dr. Isaac W.�
Cor�
"early"


<1850�
Hair, Andreas


Census�
�
�
Bay, John�
�
"early"


<1850�
Hair, Andreas


Census�
�
�
Niday, David�
�
<1850


�
Census�
�
�
Niday, .....�
�
"early"  �
Hair, Andreas�
�
�
Niday, John�
Bent�
"early"�
Andreas�
�
�
Sullivan, Joseph�
�
"early"�
Hair, Andreas�
�
�
Baker, Moses�
�
"early"


Dec'tr 1850�
Andreas�



census no.86�
�
Raines, Joseph�
Monr�
"early"�
Andreas�
�
�
Raines/Ranes, James T.�
Monr�
Twp


<1850�
Andreas


Census�
�
�
Anderson, Seth�
Monr�
"early"


<1850�
Andreas


Census�
�
�
Fox, James�
Rich�
<1850


<1851





Twp�
Census


meeting in


    house 


Andreas�
�
�
Duncan, Thomas�
Grand River�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Hogue, William�
�
<1850


1850�
land 35�70�22


Census�
�
�
Locklan, Thomas�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Logan, William�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
McHurgue, William�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Allisom, William�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Burke, Zacharia�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Vanderpool, Elijah�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Davis, John�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Rockhold, Robert�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Bay, David�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Wolson, William�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Collins, James�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Alephin, Zebulon�
Clin�
<1850


Twp�
Census


Andreas�
�
�
Collins, Dilard�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Smith, Charles�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Kirkendall, Evan�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Smith, John A.�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Connor, Stephen�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Bear/Barr, Jesse�
Monr�
<1850


Twp


<1851�
Census


Andreas


supervisor�
�
�
Kirk, Mason�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Kirk, Madison�
�
<1851�
constable�
�
�
Kirk, Solomon�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Morris, Samuel�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Mundel, Levi�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Chambers, John�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Dodrell, William�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Troy, Eaton�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Dwire/Dwyer, Joseph�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Fitzgerald, Thomas�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Hammack, Daniel�
Wash�
<1850


Twp�
Census


Andreas�
�
�
Willys, William�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Hammack, James�
Wash�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Marney, Jonathan�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Landman, William�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Morgan, Andrew�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Galloway, Michael�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Sutton, James�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Brock, George�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Zimmerman, Joseph�
Bent�
<1850


Twp�
Census


Andreas�
�
�
McPherson, Thomas�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Young, James�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Payton, Daniel�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Mansel, John�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Phillips, Joel�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Barker, Thomas�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Patterson, Joseph�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Clifford, Paul�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Saline, Daniel�
�
<1850�
Census�
�
�
Hart, Corydon�
�
<1851�
witness on will�
�
�
Hase, Joseph�
�
<1851�
election judge�
�
�
Wright, Wm. R.�
�
<1851�
election judge�
�
�
Clifford, Thomas B.�
<1851�
clerk�
�
�
�
Galloway, John�
�
<1851�
justice�
�
�
McGaughey, John�
�
<1851�
clerk�
�
�
McCutcheon, William�
<1851�
treasurer�
�
�
�
Bowers, James�
�
<1851�
treasurer�
�
�
Garman, George�
Bent


Cor�
"early"


<1851�
Hair, Andreas


bought lot�
�
�
Richman, M.H.�
Rich�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
�
�
<1851�
�
co. surveyor�
�
Edgerton, Mrs. & family�
Jeff�
<1851�
Andreas�
�
�
Allen, John�
�
<1852�
clerk�
�
�
Peck, James�
Bent�
Twp


1852


<1852�
Andreas


land 25�70�22


Peoria Baptist�
�
�
Williams, Jesse�
�
1852�
land 3�70�22�
�
�
Prather, Amos�
�
<1852�
marriage (Hair)�
�
�
Wilcox, Polly Ann�
�
<1852�
marriage�
�
�
Jackson, C. C.�
�
<1853�
marriage (Andreas)�
�
�
Greenman, Rachel�
�
<1853�
marriage�
�
�
Ewing, Isaac F.�
�
1853�
land 35�70�22�
�
�
Fitzer, John�
�
1853�
land 3�70�22�
�
�
Hogue, James B.�
Wash�
1854


Twp�
land 35�70�22


Andreas�
�
�
Hogue, John�
Wash�
1854�
land 35�70�22�
�
�
Ryan, Ira B.�
Monr�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Brown, A.A.Sr.�
Clin�
Twp


<1856�
Andreas�
�
�
Ginn, William�
Clin�
Twp


<1856�
Andreas�
�
�
Vest, S.L.�
Clin�
<1856�
Andreas�
�
�
Slaven, D.J.�
Clin�
Twp


<1856�
Andreas�
�
�
Sharp, David�
Wal�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Sharp, Solomon�
Wal�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Chilcote, Jacob�
Wal�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Wright, George�
Warr�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Bracewell, Hartley�
Warr�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Rankin, John K.�
Warr�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Wyat, Nathan�
Warr�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Wilkie, G. W.�
Warr�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Sager, A.�
SF�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Esteb, I.R.�
SF�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Hannaman, John�
SF�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Fisher, Josiah�
SF�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Crawford, J.H.�
Bent�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Hancock, T. S.�
Wri�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Wright, Ellis�
Wri�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Wright, Greenwood�
Wri�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Nelson, A.�
Wash�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Ryan, J.M.�
Wash�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Hammack, James�
Wash�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Wilson, Isaac�
How�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Brown, Joseph�
How�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Brown, Nathan�
How�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Rogers, Thomas�
How�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Rogers, Joel�
How�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Rogers, Kendall�
How�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Syferd, John W.�
Jack�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Richardson, Thomas H.�
Jack�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Campbell, James�
Jack�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Swanson, William E.�
Jeff�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Guinn, James�
Clay�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Surbaugh, J.H.�
Clay�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Caldwell, Levi�
Clay�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Caldwell, Nicholas�
Clay�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
McVey, Jacob�
Clay�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
McVey, Henry�
Clay�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
McVey, Benjamin�
Clay�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Parr, Morgan  �
Union�
Twp�
Andreas. At Bethlehem�
�
�
Venosdal, Isaac�
Union�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
May, Daniel�
Union�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Morritt, Jacob�
Union�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�
Guinn, Samuel�
Rich�
Twp�
Andreas�
�
�



ORGANIZATION OF WAYNE COUNTY (1850�51)


"On the 8th of November, 1850, Dr. Isaac W. McCarty was appointed organizing sheriff by Judge William McKay..." of the district court�.  The organizing sheriff set the times and places for elections and gave notice of them.  Three county commissioners were in charge of other aspects of government.�  "The county commissioners were Talbot Rockhold, W.B. Hart and Joseph Dwyer.  They met [Monday] 27 [and Tuesday 28] January 1851 at the house of James Foxes."�


"At the January meeting the commissioners divided the county into four precincts and appointed election judges for 3 of them, to wit:  


No. 1. South Fork precinct, north-east quarter, for judges Thos. Fitsgerral, _ Hase, and Joseph Dwyre, election held at Joseph Dwyer's.


No. 2. Washington presint, north-west quarter, for judges Wm. Hoge, Jas. Hammack, and Wm. Lanman, held at James Foxes.


No.3. Jefferson precinte, south-west quarter, for judges Henry P. Sullivan, Harvey B. Duncan, and Joseph Hase, held at Dickson S. Duncins.


No. 4. Monroe precinct, for judges Jno. A. Smith, Wm. R. Wright, and Evan Carkendall, held at the house of James T. Ranes.


The commissioners divided the county into three commissioners districts: No.1. Richland, No.2. Cambria, and No. 3. Madison districts.


They set an election on the 13th of February� for several officers to serve until the regular August election: clerk of district, sheriff, coroner, county surveyor, judge of probate, and school fund commissioner.  They adjourned until the last Monday [24th] in February.  At the February election three precincts participated"... and on the 13th of February, 1851, the county was duly organized"�


At the February meeting the commissioners ordered the 4th district organized on the first Monday [the 7th] in April. On Tuesday April 8 the clerk totalled up the accounts.  "Thomas B. Clifford, acting as clerk, treasurer, recorder, and collector opens the township returns on [Monday] 14 April, 1851, and finds:�


Washington township, Kellogg M. Hart and John Galloway elected as justices; Daniel Hammack and Andrew Morgan constables; John McGaughey, clerk;, William McCutcheon, treasurer; James Sutton, Daniel Hammack, and K.M. Hart trustees.


For Madison township, Seth Anderson was elected justice of  the peace; Madison Kirk, constable; James Ranes, clerk; James Bowers, treasurer; and Jesse Barr, supervisor"�


The first will admitted to probate in Wayne County was that of Elisha T. Hart in the Spring of 1851�


"The commissioners appointed by the Legislature to locate the county seat were George W. Perkins, William Davis, and Lancaster M. Boggs�  They discharged their duty in the Spring of 1851, selecting the site of the present town of Corydon."�  Perkins and Davis swore on May 6, 1851 that they had no personal interest in the matter, and on 20 May 1851 recorded their choice�


[The town] ... has a pleasant location near the center of the county on a dry and beautiful rolling prarie.  Fine bodies of timber, within four miles on South Chariton, afford an ample supply of fuel.  There are also some groves of timber within a mile and a half on McCarty's Branch, south and southeast of the town"�


"During the Summer of this year the town was partly surveyed by county surveyor Benjamin Barker and afterward finished up by J.F. Stratton of Appanoose county.  The town plat was filed that fall.


There were several other settlements in the county at the time Corydon was laid out.  Lineville was already established.  A post office called Grand River operated at or near Lineville after 1851�


"Cambria had a post office as early as 1851... and must have been started around 1850 or 1851"�


The spring and summer of 1851 were remarkable for the amount of rain.  Flooding was severe in May through July.  In July, dry hot weather baked and destroyed the crops which had survived the floods.  The crop failure and outbreaks of cholera were very hard on the settlers this year�


"At the [Monday] August [4, 1851] election of this year county officers were elected as follows:  Seth Anderson, County Judge; Thomas McPherson, Clerk; D. Payton, Treasurer and Recorder; Isaac W. McCarty, Sheriff.  At this election thirty votes were cast"�


Also elected were James Hammack, Coroner; Harvey B. Duncan, Supervisor, and M. H. Richman, Surveyor.


CORYDON (1851�52)


"The name sected by the commissioners for the county seat was Springfield, but Hon. George W. McCleary, Secretary of State,� wrote the clerk that there was another town in the state of that name,� and suggested the name of Anthony.  This name met the approbation of Mr. McPherson, the clerk, but Judge Anderson, being from Corydon, Indiana,� preferred the name of Corydon.  Being unable to agree, it is said that they finally determined to decide the matter by a contest at poker.  In this the judge proved the victor, and so the county seat received the name of Corydon"�


The official plat of Corydon was filed in November, 1851�  


The lots were... sold at public sale, after being appraised.  The first lot was sold to George Garman, Nov. 8, 1851, for $38"�


"The first district court was held in the Spring of 1852, in a cabin hastily constructed and still unfinished.  The floor was laid down loosely, and only half the roof was on.. The walls were neither chinked nor pointed, and the judge's desk was a keg.  Judge McKay, however expressed himself as satisfied, and was completely at home in the 'cabin court house'"��  This building served until 1856, and was still around in 1865�


"There were but three cases" this term. "John Allen, county clerk, swore the first witness, a gust of wind blew the papers out of the house," and the case was summarily dismissed�


"The first house was brought upon the town plat by George Garman on an ox wagon, and he became the first resident of the place, and also kept in this house the first store.  The first child born in Corydon was a son of Seth Anderson.  The first death was a child of J.J. Phillips"�


OTHER EARLY EVENTS (1852�65)


The township and subdivision surveys in the southern tier of Wayne County were contracted in March 1852.�  The South Fork Church of the United Baptists was formed 29 May 1852 at the house of James Peck, with 8 members.  It later became the Peoria Baptist Church�


Corydon was established as a post office in June, 1852.�


Bethlehem had a post office beginning in 1852�


The name Promise City was in use in 1852, and the town had a post office before the railroad went through�


"The first marriage in the county was that of Amos W. Prather to Polly Ann Wilcox, Nov. 22d, 1852"�


The Chariton Land District was created 2 Aug. 1852 for the land in south central Iowa�  Robert Coles, a Methodist minister and popular speaker was register at the Chariton Office.  Most Wayne County land purchases were made there.  On 1 February 1853 almost a half million acres were proclaimed for sale at the Chariton office.  In the first 6 months, preemption sales amounted to about 9,000 acres, before the first public auction.  "A flood of settlers [came after 1849] so that by 1855 practically all the county was settled"�  The Chariton office operated until 1859.





In the 1852�53 session of the Iowa legislature, Harvey B. Duncan represented Wayne, Appanoose, and Decatur counties�


The first marriage [in Corydon] was C.C. Jackson and Rachel Greenman, Sept 30, 1853, Seth Anderson, the county Judge, being the person officiating"�  "John Hayes, Esq.  was the first attorney in the place.  The first sermon was preached by Rev. Morgan Parr of the Christian denomination.  He was one of the early settlers at Bethlehem"�


Peoria was platted in 1853�


Clio was begun in 1855 around the cabin of John Tabler�


The state capital was redesignated to a more central location in Des Moines in 1855 and the move completed in 1857.


At this time there was a mail route from Princeton, Mo., through Wayne County to Chariton�


"A courthouse was built in 1856 by William F. Lancaster and John Davis at a cost of $600."�  "[It] was a two story frame building 24 x 35 [ft] on the present jail site.  The offices were in the top story and court was held on the ground floor"�.  A jail was also built the same year.  The courthouse was used until about 1871 and the jail until 1881.


 add -----------------------------------------------


  In 1856, Wayne County had ??? persons in???


   households --  Census ofIowa, 1856, Wayne County.


Several more towns were established as post offices: Warsaw, 1855; New York, 1856; Genoa, 1856; Lewisburg, 1857; Kniffin, 1858�


"Dr. Daniel Payton, when county judge [1855�57] divided the county into fourteen townships.  Judge Taylor [1857�59] afterward cut off Warren from Jackson and organized Howard and Clinton from the old township of Medicine,� thus making the political townships the same as those of land survey�


Confidence post office began in 1859 and Lucerne (eastern Richman twp.) and Orlando (Benton twp.) in 1860�


The first newspaper in the county was the South Tier Democrat, commenced in 1859 and continued until 1861, by Cutter and Binkley�


In 1861 the county government was changed from a county Judge to a board of Supervisors, one from each township.


In the early days, stage lines carried mail and passengers.  In 1865 there was a railroad at Ottumwa, and Promise City and Corydon were on the Western Stage Co. line from Ottumwa to Nebraska City�


Some other events of later years will be listed:


   1865 Apr 15  Stage robbery near Plano


   1869         Vote on tax for courthouse, defeated.


   early 1870's Railroad to Allerton


   early 1870's Railroad through Seymour


   1871 June 3  Jesse James robbery of Corydon bank


   1871         Board of Supervisors reduced to 3 members.


   1871         Courthouse voted down.


   1874?        County seat election�Corydon won,


                         but courthouse was defeated


   1878         Shane Hill baseball team (thru ca. 1900)


   1879         Courthouse very narrowly defeated.


   1883         Old Settlers Assoc. formed, 253 signers


   1889         Started building courthouse.


                  (what was used from 1871 to 1889?)


   1897         Phone exchange (W. C. Dem. 5 Aug 1897)


   1912         Rock Island RR north from Allerton,


                   Millerton begun


   1932         Olympics� George Saling


�
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�. (Stuart?) The Bee trace was in a generally northern direction.  Stiles reproduction of the notes from the survey of the Red Rock Line in 1843 lists the trace at mile 32 in the southeastern part of Lucas County about 4 miles north of Wayne County.


�. A cast iron post placed at the Old NW Corner in 1850 still stands along a narrow road at coordinates measured by the MoDNR as N40 34' 15.90118" W94 36' 2.08351" (NAD83).


�.  Dodds, p.423.  He quotes in part from Landers.


Wayne county lies along approximately miles 55 to 79 of this line (west to east).


�.  Stuart 


�.  Gue, p. 173, also Aurner.





�.  Dodds, p.462, quoting surveyors report of 1850.


�.  Dodds, p.425, map p.422.  They were further apart as one goes west.  The 1843 survey of the Red Rock Line, as published by Stiles, mentions “the line claimed by Missouri” at 43 miles 12.83 chains, and the old boundary at 58: 29.89, placing them 15.21 miles apart as measured about a mile west of the Appanoose County line.


�.  Gue, p.173. Also Board of Immigration.





�.  B&H Record,1886.  Hair and Andreas start with H.B. Duncan.


Hair says he came in 1847, which conflicts with other references.





�.  Other Sullivans and Duncans already lived nearby in Missouri. See Rogers, History of Mercer Co. Mo.  The area near the state line was thinly settled, but Mercer county had about 40 families in the early 1840's.





�.  This should be checked-it seems more likely for Mercer Co.


�.  ibid.  Also Andreas, l875, paraphrasing Hair.


�.  H.B. Duncan was a representative in the 1852 Iowa legislature. See later.





�.  Burton, l955.  Joseph Duncan was a brother of Harvey.





�.  Andreas, and Burton 1955.  They were probably downstream in Decatur Co. or Missouri.  Steele is shown a mile or so into Decatur on an early map and was in 1850 census of Decatur Co (no.124).  Lyten's location is unknown.


�.  Rogers, History of Mercer Co. Mo., p.34.


�.  ibid, p.14. Also p.65.





�.  Lokken, p.79�89, 95�96.





�.  The proper name was Mesquaki, meaning Red Earth People, but the settlers generally called them by the name of a subgroup, the Fox clan.





�.  Sometimes quoted as Cession 262 of the list made by Charles C. Royce.





�.  A comparison of the survey notes for the Red Rock Line, as published by Stiles, to the streams on the topographic map places the line about 1 to 1 1/4 mile west of the Wayne-Appanoose line.





�.  Lokken, p.14.


�.  Stuart.


�.  The Fairfield land office operated from 1842 to 1855.


�.  Quoted from B&H Record. Laws of Iowa, Territorial legislature Chap 82, p.73 approved 13 Jan, 1846, establishes boundaries for 12 new counties.  The southern boundary is "the northern boundary of the state of Missouri."


�.  Andreas.


�.  Burton, 1955.


�.  The Mormons had been driven out of several areas since founding their religion in 1830.  They tried to establish a city called New Jerusalem near Independence, Mo.  The people of the area were hostile to them and drove them out of the state in 1838. This ill-equipped band of refugees, hurried on by the militia, suffered severe hardships and heavy losses in their winter journey back to refuge in Illinois and eastern Iowa.  The city of Nauvoo, Illinois became the seat of their church and grew to a large city as Mormons gathered there from all over the country.


   In 1843 the church raised a storm of indignation in the area by permitting plural marriages.  Mobs drove Mormons out of nearby Cardiff, Ill. in June 1844.  By 1845 the persecution convinced them to prepare to move westward. They began the journey in February, 1846 with about 16,000 people. They chose to avoid Missouri, and travelled across the newly acquired and unsettled land of Iowa.  Their camp on Locust creek, Wayne County, southeast of the later site of Corydon, is remembered as the place where the song "Come, Come, Ye Saints" was written in April 1846.


   In that month the first party stopped and built a temporary home at Garden Grove, Decatur Co., and planted crops.  They went on to Pisgah, Union Co., and built a small city which was used for two and a half years by Mormons travelling west.  By June, the lead party had established the Winter Quarters site near Council Bluffs.  In September, 1846, the last group was driven out of Nauvoo.  Most of the party spent the 1846�47 winter at the Winter Quarters.


�.  Board of Immigration.


�.  Dodds, p.237. Also Burton, 1955.


�.  Andreas says Lineville, but I think Grand River.  There is no indication of Lineville on early maps.  It may be confused with Grand River, which maps show 2 miles north of the state line.  The state line surveyors in 1850 apparently saw no sign of a town on their route, as their detailed report mentions only a N-S road and a field fence here (see Dodds, p.480, mile 57). Undoubtedly many of the people of Grand River later lived in Lineville.


�.  Old Settlers register:  N.A. Hart, Nathan Hart, Henry Hart, and Joseph Hart. B&H Record, under N.A. Hart.  Land sale 1849 in 35�70�22 and 2�70�22.


�.  Hair.


�.  Burton, 1955.


�.  Murray, p. 451�2.


�.  Burton, 1955.


�.  Mott places it in NE Walnut township, which is certainly wrong. Burton (1955) says it may have been the same as Barker's Mills, which maps place in sec. 1, South Fork township.


�.  Hair stops here, and Andreas continues.


�.  Andreas. These lists are certainly not definitive.  They are incomplete as of 1850 but do include some who came later.


�.  Federal census, Wayne County, Iowa, 7 thru 13 Nov 1850.  There appear to have been about 75 family groups.


�.  Andreas.


�.  Dodds, p. 457, and Rogers, Mercer Co.  This stretch of line, although short and affecting only a width of a few hundred feet, was bitterly contested.


�.  Journal of House of Representatives, 3rd Gen. Assy, 1850.


�.  Andreas.


�.  It is not clear how these commissioners were selected.  History of Wayne and Lucas indicates that they were appointed by the legislature in the act of organization to serve until elections could be held.  I cannot find this in the Acts of the Legislature. An act passed by the First Session of the General Assembly (Chap LXXXIV, p. 115   (YEAR?)) seems to mark the end of legislative involvement in county organization (but not in setting boundaries and county seats) and delegates organizing power to the Judge of the District Court. Possibly Judge McKay appointed the commissioners as well as the sheriff.


An election took place on 28 [Saturday??] December 1850, as the commissioners at the January meeting allowed payment for election judges and clerks in 3 precincts for that date.  The purpose of that election was not stated there.  It could have been an election of commissioners.


�.  B&H Record, also History of Wayne and Lucas.


�.  It seems rather strange to have an election on Thursday when most were on Monday.


�.  Andreas.


�.  B&H Record.


Wayne and Lucas History says 4 April, but that was before the election in the 4th precinct.


�.  Only two townships were listed.  It would appear from this that the county was divided into only two townships but four precincts at this time; along what line is not given.  Alternatively, the books may omit listing officers for one or two townships.  It is also strange that Washington has more officers and different offices than Madison.


 Burton (1955) says "The county was originally divided into four townships each quarter being one."


�.  Wayne County Clerk of Court's records, Recorder's records, and probate file now at Wayne Co. Historical Museum.  Will was witnessed by Corydon Hart, a nephew of Elisha Hart. (See later mention of him).  Executor was Kellogg M. Hart.


�.  Acts of 3rd Gen. Assy, Chap. XVIII p.46. approved 18 Jan 1851. Perkins was from Appanoose, Davis from Decatur, and Boggs from Monroe county.  Any two of them could act, and it appears Boggs did not participate.


�.  Andreas.


�.  B&H Record.


The original town of Corydon consisted of the E1/2 of the SW1/4 and W1/2 of the SE1/4 of section 19 T69N R21W, Corydon township, and contained 160 acres.


It was deeded to the county commissioners (Rockhold, Hart, and Dwire) by Bernhart and Elizabeth Henn of Jefferson County for $165, recorded in Ledger book 1, p. 5 on 22 May 1851, and later copied into Deed book A1.


�.  Andreas.


�.  Mott.  Maps show Grand River 2 miles north of the state line.


�.  This was the old location a mile east of present site.  The town moved in 1879 or 80.


�.  Gue, p. 266.


�.  Andreas.


�.  Term in office 1850�1856.


�.  This Springfield, Iowa, was probably the one in Keokuk Co. which was laid out in 1845, was active until the 1870's, and served as a post of office 1846�1893.  See Mott, under Keokuk Co.  There were also several other Springfields in Iowa, but none rivalled the one described.


�.  Corydon, Indiana, is in Harrison County on the Ohio River in the southern part of that state.  Seth Anderson was b. ca. 1814 in Ohio and came with his father Seth, Sr. to Corydon, Indiana before 1820.  Seth, Jr. married in 1832 in Harrison Co., Indiana.  He moved to Vermillion Co. eastern Indiana, and then to Wayne County, Iowa.


�.    Andreas.  This is the first record found of the story�24 years after the event.  Hair does not mention it.  It is repeated almost verbatim in B&H Record, Wayne and Lucas History, and almost every later discussion of the matter.  Burton (1955) phrases it differently, but repeats the major ideas.  If Anderson was county judge when the poker game took place, then it was after the August election and it was before the plat was filed in November.


Did they call the town Springfield between the time the site was selected and the election?


It is possible that Anderson was involved because of his position as JP (April election) and the title Judge was of course used in later telling of the story.


Also consider the version in Ackley to Zwingle, which says the town was named for Corydon township, which Anderson had named.


It is uncertain when the townships were named, however, as there were originally only 4 "precincts" as named above.


See later footnote on Corydon Hart.


�.  Wayne Co. Recorder's office, Ledger book 1.  Judge Anderson approved its filing and it was entered 3 November, 1851.  It uses the name Corydon.  This is the earliest record I have found of the name.


�.  Hair, Andreas, and History of Wayne and Lucas.  Hair says 3 Nov. and gives lot 4, block 14.  The first deeds I find recorded for town lots were to Garman for various lots (not including this one) on 4 Oct 1852, for various amounts (not including $38).


�.  Andreas.  Also B&H Record.


�.  Rev. Corydon Hudson, quoting stories heard from his grandfather Corydon Hart, says:  Corydon Hart, "a man twenty years of age was an expert corner hewer and layout man."  He hewed the corners for the cabin courthouse.  He claims that the town was named for his grandfather.  This is corroborated by family stories in two other completely separate branches of the Hart families.


If the town was named for him because of his work on the courthouse, it must have been underway before November, 1851.  If it was started before then, wouldn't it have been further along by the time court was held?


At the least, the name is a remarkable coincidence, considering how rarely it occurs either for people or towns.


�.  Hair says it was then owned by B.H. Kelly.


�.  Hair.


�.  Andreas.


�.  Dodds, p.237. Burton (1955) says 1851.


�.  Peoria Baptist.


�.  Burton, 1955.


�.  Mott. Bethlehem plat filed 6 June 1853 by Columbus Parr, Deed Bk 1, p 46.


�.  West.


�.  Hair.  This probably was not the first recorded.


�.  Specifically, Ranges 18 thru 31 west and from the southern boundary of the state through township 75 North.


�.  Burton, 1955.


�.  Journal of House, 4th Session, l852.


�.  Andreas.


�.  Andreas.


�.  Mott.


�.  West.


�.  West.


�.  Hair and Andreas.


�.  Burton


�.  Mott


�.  B&H Record.


�.  This practice was convenient, but not universally followed elsewhere in Iowa, particularly in the older, eastern area.


�.  Mott


�.  There were a number of newspapers in the 1860's.  Andreas says: "In the winter of 1862�3 the Corydon Democrat was established by M. Mann, but continued only about a year.  In the winter of 1863�64 the Corydon Monitor made its appearance under the control of Wm. Hartshorn, who continued it until his death in December, 1867.  It was then continued by his widow, Mrs. Mary Hartshorn, for a year, when Lewis Miles became editor.  It was afterwards purchased by C.F.LeCompte and removed to Allerton [as the Wayne Co. Republican]. October 3, 1872, the first number of the Wayne County News made its appearance, H. M. Belvel proprietor.  It was removed to Allerton in July, 1875  "The Lineville Tribune is published [1875] every Thursday by Chas. H. Austin.  It is a folio sheet, 8 columns to the page, independent in politics.  It was established in July 1873 and came into the hands of the present owner in March, 1874, by whom it was enlarged to its present size in June 1875."


�.  Hair.





�











 





 





EARLY HISTORY of WAYNE COUNTY and CORYDON, IOWA





(c) 1996-2006 Bill Hart		p. � PAGE  \* MERGEFORMAT �4� of � NUMPAGES  \* MERGEFORMAT �20�











